IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Chier Espery Clerk

CASE NO. 67,761

CHRYSLER CORPORATION, a foreign corporation,

Petitioner,

V.

JACK E. WOLMER, Personal Representative of the Estate of MARY WOLMER and JACK E. WOLMER, Individually,

Respondent.

ON PETITION TO INVOKE DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FOURTH DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON MERITS

DAVIS CRITTON HOY & DIAMOND

ATTORNEYS AT LAW
SUITE IOIO FORUM III
1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BOULEVARD
P. O. BOX 3797
WEST PALM BEACH, FLORIDA 33402

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a discretionary review of a decision of the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, which reversed an order of the Trial Court granting the Defendant's motion for directed verdict and judgment N.O.V. upon the issue of punitive damages.

The Plaintiff, Jack E. Wolmer, brought suit in the Circuit Court for the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit against Chrysler Corporation and two other Defendants. 1/
The cause, for wrongful death, arose out of an automobile accident on September 27, 1977, in which his wife, Mary Wolmer, was killed while an occupant in a vehicle manufactured by Chrysler.

The Plaintiff claimed actual damages based on theories of negligence, implied warranty and strict liability; in addition, he claimed punitive damages. The cause went to trial before a jury upon the Plaintiff's Amended Complaint. The jury returned verdicts awarding actual damages -- upon the negligence claims only -- of \$500,000.00 to the Estate of Mary Wolmer and \$500,000.00 to Jack E. Wolmer, and awarding punitive damages of \$3,000,000.00. (Appendix: 1-2) (R: 2091-92).

The Trial Court entered a remittitur of \$300,000.00 actual damages on the claim of the Estate which was accepted by the Plaintiff. (R: 2094; 2102). The Trial Court subsequently entered its "Order Granting Motion of Chrysler Corporation for Directed Verdict and Final Judgment N.O.V. for Chrysler Corporation on Issue of Punitive Damages" on October 15, 1982. (Appendix: 3-7) (R: 2114-19). The Plaintiff appealed this latter order to the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District. That Court, in a decision entered July 17, 1985, reversed the order of the Trial Court with instructions to reinstate the punitive damage award. (Appendix: 8-10) From that decision, rendered pursuant to

^{1/} The other Defendants, Bill Binko Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc. and Home Insurance Company, are not involved in the present matter.

an order denying motions for rehearing, clarification and certification on September 19, 1985, the Defendant, Chrysler Corporation, petitioned for review in this Court.

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution because the decision below expressly conflicts with the decisions of this Court and of other district courts and, in addition, expressly construes the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution. Appellant's petition to invoke this Court's discretionary review was granted on February 24, 1986.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A.

The Accident

Mrs. Wolmer was killed while riding as a passenger in the back seat of her 1977 Plymouth Volare station wagon. The accident occurred when a 3/4 ton Chevrolet pick-up truck smashed into the rear end of the stopped Volare at more than 50 m.p.h. Witnesses, including the driver of the truck, gave varying estimates of his speed prior to impact, ranging from 50 to 65 m.p.h. (T: 116, 771-72; 990-991; 994; 1009-10).

The tremendous force of the crash, which was estimated at 344,000 foot pounds (T: 1313), caved-in in the back end of the station wagon some 2-1/2 feet on each rear side and a full three feet in the rear center. (T: 729, 1446). In addition, the floor pan of the Volare separated at the points where it had been welded to the rear rails of the car, the doors jammed shut, and the window next to Mrs. Wolmer broke upon impact. (Pl. ex. 55; T: 599-600; 1460; 786; 1664). Both the plaintiff's and defendant's experts described the impact as severe. (T: 777, 1595).

The force of the crash ripped off one of the rear shock absorbers and drove the jagged end of the shock absorber attachment into the fuel tank, rupturing it. The massive deformation of the rear structure of the Volare also pulled the fuel filler tube away from the fuel tank. (T: 581; 1341; 1444-45). The escaped fuel immediately ignited and severely burned the rear portion of the station wagon, killing Mrs. Wolmer instantaneously.

B.

Allegations of Defect

The Plaintiff alleged that the fuel tank system of the Volare was defectively designed because it permitted contact between the shock absorber and the fuel tank and allowed the filler tube to separate from the gas tank in this collision. The plaintiff also alleged that the Volare floor pan was defective because Chrysler should have used fusion welding to connect the floor pan to the rear rails of the car. Plaintiff, however, did not

introduce any testimony that the use of fusion welding was either mandated by sound engineering practice, or, more importantly, would have allowed the floor pan to survive the tremendous forces involved in this collision. In addition, Plaintiff's own engineer testified that separation of welds in an impact of this magnitude was not a defect. (T: 603).

C.

Chrysler's Compliance with Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standard ("FMVSS") 301

the National Traffic and Motor Vehicle Safety Act of 1966, 15 U.S.C. Section 1381 et. sea., ("Safety Act") requires the Secretary of Transportation to prescribe safety standards for motor vehicles which both "meet the need for motor vehicle safety" and are "reasonable, practicable and appropriate." 15 U.S.C. Sections 1392 (a) and (f)(3). Among the standards promulgated under the Act is FMVSS 301. This standard, which was in effect at the time the Wolmer vehicle was designed and sold and which is in effect, without change, even today, prescribes specific performance standards for the integrity of motor vehicle fuel systems. 49 C.F.R. Section 571.301. Among the many tests which a vehicle is required to meet under this safety standard is the following applicable to rearend collisions: a stationary vehicle hit from the rear by a 4,000 pound barrier moving at the speed of 30 m.p.h. can lose no more than 1 ounce of fuel in the first minute following the collision and no more than 5 ounces of fuel in the 5 minutes following the collision. 49 C.F.R. Sections 571.301, S.5.5. (Appendix: 11-16).

Both plaintiff's and defendant's experts were in substantial agreement that the force created by the impact of a 4,000 pound barrier moving at 30 m.p.h. was equivalent to the force generated in a vehicle-to-vehicle rear-end crash at substantially higher speeds. (T: 280, 831-32; 1168-69; 1298). Although the relative relationship varies slightly according to the comparative weight of the vehicles involved, a 30 m.p.h. barrier crash test produces a crash impact roughly equivalent to the impact involved when a stationary

vehicle is hit from the rear by a car traveling at the rate of 45 m.p.h. (T: 1298; see also T: 831-32).

The evidence is undisputed that the fuel tank system of the Volare, including the filler tube, met and even exceeded this performance standard. The fuel system of the Volare was demonstrated to withstand crash tests successfully which replicated rear-end collisions at speeds of 45 m.p.h. with no or minimal loss of fuel.

D.

Chrysler's Testing and Development Program

The evidence at trial showed clearly and without contradiction that Chrysler had undertaken a lengthy testing and development program with the Volare, particularly with respect to assuring the integrity of its fuel system under impact conditions. This evidence of the testing program affirmatively established that Chrysler acted with substantial concern for the safety of its vehicle design.

This development began in 1973 and proceeded through pre-prototype, prototype and production stages. The first production Volare was the 1976 model, sold beginning in September, 1975. This was the first model vehicle required to meet compliance with FMVSS 301. (T: 303; 1124-27; 1136; 1176A; 1320). Although the 1976 model did meet compliance standards, Chrysler continued the development design and testing aimed at improving the margin of safety in the fuel system in subsequent models. It was the very purpose of the testing program to identify actual or potential problems with the system design and to develop corrective measures. (T: 303; 1125; 1127-29; 1320-21; 1591-94)

The results of nearly two dozen tests conducted by Chrysler were introduced into evidence. A majority of these tests were vehicle crash tests, conducted in accordance with FMVSS 301 protocols. The remainder were sled tests, which involved impacting component sections of a vehicle mounted on a moving sled. (T: 1168A-69A; 1180A)

The tests were performed over a 2-1/2 year period. A majority were conducted prior to the sale of the vehicle; but at least half a dozen were completed subsequently. 2/

DATE	CRASH TEST	SLED TEST	EXHIBIT NO
3/11/75	VC 1084		P1. 28 & 44
4/21/75		2854	P1. 23
4/23/75		2855	P1. 24
4/30/75		2862	P1. 27
7/7/75	VC 1131		P1. 21 & 33
7/21/75	VC 1139		Pl. 20 or 21
8/28/75		2967	Pl. 25 & 26
9/18/75		2982	P1. 22
1/28/76	VC 1247		Pl. 47
3/18/76	VC 1270		P1. 52
4/17/76	VC 1288		P1. 31
4/19/79	VC 1309		P1. 32
6/6/76	VC 1326		Pl. 33 & 49
	VC 1341 (FMVSS 301 Com	pliance Test)	Pl. 20& Def.2
10/11/76	(SALE OF WOLM	IER VEHICLE)	P1. 45
11/17/76	VC 1442		Pl. 33
2/2/77		3475	Pl. 33
2/8/77	VC 1497		Pl. 33 & 48
7/7/77	VC 1637		P1. 50
9/27/77	(WOLMER ACCI)	DENT)	
10/24/77	VC 1665		P1. 33
10/24/77		3798	P1. 32

An examination of these test reports in the order that the tests were conducted reveals how thoroughly Chrysler tested and retested its designs; even though the earlier tests showed that the fuel system design met FMVSS 301 requirements, further tests were run to develop design changes which assured still greater integrity in the fuel system.

In the first test, VC 1084, a number of design improvements were incorporated into the 1976 fuel system for evaluation: the fuel tank was reworked to increase clearance, the shock attachment was lowered, longitudinal structures were reinforced and a heavy rubber cap was fitted over the shock attachment stud. When this test revealed that the retention straps cut into the fuel tank on impact, resulting in fuel loss, a series of sled tests were run to develop new straps (Test Nos. 2854, 2855, 2862).

The date of the test is important since the plaintiff alleged negligence only in the design and manufacture of the vehicle. There was no claim that Chrysler should have recalled the Wolmer vehicle. (R: 2004-14).

In test VC 1131, fuel tank displacement was significantly reduced over that in test VC 1084 due to design changes. Potential problems were noted in respect to contact between the fuel tank and the shock bracket assembly, and the fuel tank and differential cover. The report noted that the next test would consider corrections in these areas.

Test VC 1139 was run with the newly developed contoured fuel tank straps and with a number of additional design changes: reinforced rear rails, energy absorbing bumpers, new rear springs, and a breakaway grommet filler tube. The fuel tank was specially prepared with a styrofoam corner to disclose any evidence of contact with other undercarriage members. The test results showed no fuel leaks after the impact and none during rollover (thus exceeding FMVSS 301 requirements). Some evidence of contact with the fuel tank and underbody members was found.

Further sled tests were conducted to evaluate the fuel tank strap design and retention system (Test Nos. 2967 & 2982).

In tests VC 1247 and VC 1270, the fuel system again showed no leakage during the time prescribed in the FMVSS 301 protocol, although traces of leakage were found thereafter in VC 1247 and in the carburetor in VC 1270 on rollover.

In test VC 1288, evaluating a larger fuel tank with a modified fill tube, some deformation was revealed in the tank although no leakage was found following impact or for 30 minutes thereafter. Due to a slight displacement of the modified fill tube, the car failed the rollover test. In VC 1309, the vehicle was equipped with a new design fuel tank, strengthened rear rails and a modified fuel tank strainer. Some contact between the tank and other underbody members was noted but there was no leakage following the impact and only a trace of leakage on rollover.

Test VC 1326 evaluated the entire 1977 fuel system design. No leakage was revealed during the 30 minutes following impact. A slight leak -- well below FMVSS 301 limits -- was found on rollover. Fuel tank contact with undercarriage members was found to be slight.

As a result of this lengthy series of development tests aimed at evaluating the feasibility of numerous proposed design changes, 13 design modifications were implemented by Chrysler in its production model of the 1977 Volare. (T: 1591-93). As conceded by the Plaintiff's own engineer/witness, these changes materially improved the fuel system and its environment (T: 852). Indeed, he forthrightly admitted on cross that the fuel system design of the 1977 Volare, in respect to the shock absorber and the fuel tank, met the standard of care of good engineering practice (T: 620).

The official compliance test, VC 1341, was conducted shortly afterwards. The 1977 Volare fully met and even exceeded all FMVSS 301 requirements. (T: 341; 1589). While occasional problems appear in testing subsequent to VC 1341, it must be noted that these tests involved the evaluation of proposed modifications in designs tested for 1978 and 1979 models; it must also be noted that all tests subsequent to VC 1341 were conducted after the manufacture and sale of the Wolmer vehicle and are thus irrelevant to any issue of knowledge by Chrysler of the impact characteristics of the 1977 Volare during the time period relevant to this suit (see footnote 2, supra).

E.

Decisions of Trial Court and the District Court of Appeal

Plaintiff contended that despite the Volare's compliance with the federal safety standard governing fuel system integrity, Chrysler knew that at <u>higher</u> crash speeds, such as those involved in the Wolmer accident, the integrity of the fuel system would fail. Plaintiff's claim for punitive damages rested on the contention that Chrysler's failure to redesign the fuel system of the Volare so that it would withstand rear-end collisions at speeds of 50-55 m.p.h. constituted a "reckless indifference to human life."

Chrysler moved for a directed verdict on the issue of punitive damages at the close of the plaintiff's case. The trial court reserved ruling on the motion. In its answers to special interrogatories, the jury specifically held that the car was not defective when sold and was not sold in a condition "unreasonably dangerous" to the user. (R: 2090).

Nevertheless, the jury found Chrysler liable for negligence and awarded punitive damages. The trial court subsequently entered a remittitur of compensatory damages -- which was accepted by the plaintiff -- and granted Chrysler's motion for a directed verdict and judgment N.O.V., striking the punitive damage award.

In its opinion granting the directed verdict, the trial court found that:

- 1) there was no evidence from the voluminous test reports, documents, and testimony that Chrysler had knowledge of any uncorrected design defect in the fuel system of the Volare or even that it should have been put on notice that a problem might exist at higher speeds;
- 2) there was no evidence that any of the design decisions made by Chrysler, which were alleged by plaintiff to have been defective, were the result of any factors other than the considered judgment of Chrysler's engineers;
- 3) there was no evidence that Chrysler ignored or failed to follow any safety recommendations of its engineers;
- 4) there was no evidence in the record that Chrysler was aware of any prior crash fires involving a Volare station wagon;
- 5) the evidence did show that Chrysler ran a great number of tests in developing the Volare, and, when problems arose, steps were taken to correct them. (Appendix: 6).

Thus, the court concluded that, while Chrysler may have been negligent in designing the Volare, there was no evidence to support a finding that Chrysler had acted with a "reckless disregard" "which was the equivalent of criminality." (Appendix: 7).

On appeal, the District Court of Appeal reversed the entry of the directed verdict and judgment N.O.V. The District Court found that Chrysler knew that the Volare's fuel tank system might not survive high speed crashes and continued to market the vehicle without redesigning it to ensure integrity at higher crash speeds, such as those involved in the Wolmer accident. Applying the standard enunciated in *Johns-Manville v. Janssens*, 463 So.2d 242 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), the District Court held that this evidence met the standard for the imposition of punitive damages. (Appendix: 9).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I.

The decision of the District Court of Appeal was, for several reasons, clearly erroneous, and must be reversed. First of all, the District Court applied a legal standard for the imposition of punitive damages which, by its terms, did not require a showing of the type of reckless indifference or conduct equivalent to criminality this Court has repeatedly held must be shown to support such an award. To the extent that the District Court's order was based upon the application of an erroneous legal standard, its decision must be reversed.

II.

The evidence presented at trial, even construed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, cannot in any event sustain a reasonable finding that Chrysler engaged in the type of egregious and quasi-criminal conduct necessary to justify the imposition of punitive damages. Even assuming that there was sufficient evidence from which to infer that Chrysler had knowledge that the fuel tank integrity might fail at the crash speeds involved in the Wolmer accident, this is not sufficient to support an award of punitive damages as there are here none of the aggravating circumstances required to substantiate a finding of wantonness or reckless indifference.

III.

The District Court's decision is erroneous for an additional reason as well. The Chrysler Volare complied with a federal safety standard, which expressly and comprehensively addressed the specific aspect of vehicular performance challenged by the plaintiff. Where a federal statute requires that a safety standard be "reasonable, practicable and appropriate" and "meet the need for vehicle safety", compliance with such a standard must, as a matter of law and public policy, preclude a finding of reckless indifference or conduct equivalent to criminality.

Next, the District Court erred when it held that the Trial Court's post-trial order granting a directed verdict and judgment N.O.V. could not be supported by the jury's own finding that there was no defect or dangerous condition present in the Volare when sold by Chrysler.

V.

Finally, the District court erred in disregarding the express preemption provision contained in the federal Safety Act. Both the express language and the history of the Safety Act indicate a clear congressional intent to ensure uniformity of safety standards which are "not identical" to the federal standard applicable to the same aspect of vehicular performance. Uncontroverted evidence established that the fuel system in the 1977 Volare complied with the federally-mandated standard. Punitive damages are inherently regulatory and here serve only to compel compliance with a standard higher than the federal standard governing the same aspect of vehicular performance. Requiring adherence to such a standard impermissibly interferes with the congressional goal of achieving nationwide uniformity in vehicular safety standards. The District Court erred in holding that the Safety Act did not preclude the punitive damage award and, accordingly, its decision must be reversed.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE DISTRICT COURT APPLIED AN ERRONEOUS LEGAL STANDARD IN REVERSING THE ENTRY OF THE DIRECTED VERDICT.

The District Court concluded, based on its interpretation of the evidence, that sufficient evidence existed from which a jury could infer that Chrysler had knowledge that the fuel tank system of the Volare would not survive rear-end collisions at the crash speeds involved in the Wolmer accident. The court then held that Chrysler's conduct in deciding to market the Volare, despite its alleged knowledge of this risk, was sufficiently egregious to sustain an award of punitive damages. (Appendix: 9).

The type of egregious conduct necessary in order to justify the imposition of punitive damages was first enunciated by this Court in *Carraway v. Revel*, 116 So.2d 16, 20 (Fla. 1959):

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