0/9 6-3-86

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 67,761

CHRYSLER CORPORATION, etc.,

Petitioner,

vs.

JACK E. WOLMER, etc.,

Respondent.



RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

HADDAD, JOSEPHS & JACK, P.A.
P.O. Box 345118
Coral Gables, Florida 33114
-andPODHURST, ORSECK, PARKS, JOSEFSBERG,
EATON, MEADOW & OLIN, P.A.
Suite 800, City National Bank Building
25 West Flagler Street
Miami, Florida 33130
(305) 358-2800

BY: JOEL S. PERWIN

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

^{34/} One Chrysler officer opined that the \$301 tests are virtually worthless in predicting real-world events, and thus are nothing more than a meaningless hurdle which the auto manufacturers are required to jump (R. 320-21, 326, 328). That testimony alone supports the inference that Chrysler did not conduct these tests because it cared about its customers. Thus, Chrysler is wrong to assert (brief at 17 n.6) that there was "no evidence" that its design choices "were based on anything other than the best judgment of its engineers." To the contrary, as the following discussion makes clear, they were based on meeting the minimal federal test, despite **better** design choices which Chrysler used on other cars and even tested on this car.

^{35/} See R. 35; R. 82, S.A. 14; R. 94-95, S.A. 15; R. 181-82; R. 1125; R. 1129; R. 1138-39, S.A. 16; R. 1141, S.A. 17; R. 1146-47, S.A. 18; R. 1158, S.A. 19; R. 320; R. 334; R. 1146; R. 1158A; R. 1169-70; R. 1179; R. 1412; R. 1681.

why the Wolmer car did not have such a design, his only answer was that it met the minimal federal standard (R. 80). The same employee was reminded that Chrysler uses a breakaway filler-tube connection at the rear quarter panel of most of its other cars; his only response was that the Wolmer car met the minimal federal standard (R. 82, see A. 14). The vehicle-structure supervisor was asked about the breakaway connection. His answer: "we met the Federal Standards with the system as we had on the car. There was no need to consider a breakaway type" (R. 181). There was no need even to consider another design, because the car met the minimum federal standard—and that was the only criterion. And when asked about the separation of the floor pan in Chrysler's testing of this car, the same witness answered that such separation did not affect compliance with the federal standard (R. 1141, A. 17).

Yet another Chrysler officer was asked why it conducts tests at all. The answer: "To demonstrate compliance to the standard" (R. 320). The same witness was asked whether Chrysler's engineers had made any recommendations about the fuel tank after one test in which the tank had contacted the shock absorber. The answer: "Not in this test. And there wouldn't be, because it met all the requirements of the fuel system performance standards" (R. 1179). There "wouldn't be" any recommendations so long as the tests complied with the minimum \$301 standard. And finally, one of Chrysler's experts was asked whether Chrysler had ever tested to see at what speed the filler tube would pull out of the tank. His answer: "Yeah. They tested to find that at 30 miles an hour it did not come out. There was no violation of the fuel system [standard], no leakage. So that's the criteria" (R. 1681). This witness perfectly captured Chrysler's attitude toward the safety of its customers. So long as the car passed the minimum test, "that's the criteria." (36/

 $[\]frac{36}{}$ Of course there are other places in the transcript in which Chrysler employees profess their concern for human life, but those passages are irrelevant to the posture of this appeal—which reviews the evidence most favorable to the jury's verdict. It is interesting, moreover, that most of the quotations about Chrysler's concern for safety come toward the end of the transcript, at a point at which Chrysler's counsel might have

From these quotations, there can be little doubt that Chrysler's officers and witnesses revealed their company's attitude to the jury far better by their own testimony than could any extrinsic evidence on the point. Anyone who heard this testimony, or who reads the actual quotations to get a sense of the language and flavor conveyed, will have no doubt about the propriety of the punitive award in this case. Time and again these witnesses revealed that Chrysler's only concern is whether or not its cars will pass the federal test, and not whether those cars are a danger to people.

Thus, Chrysler did not confirm what the 30 m.p.h. moving-barrier tests told it, because the government did not require it. Chrysler did not change the configuration of this car, because the car passed the minimal federal test anyway. Chrysler had no regard for the safety of human beings, because it had exclusive regard for meeting the minimal governmental standard. As Dr. Ball testified: "I would say they showed a reckless disregard for safety. They were seeking to meet the letter of the law but not the intent of the law" (R. 912). The result was Mary Wolmer's death. If ever there were a case which illustrates that mere compliance with minimal federal standards should not preclude an award of punitive damages, this is it. Such a rule would undermine the Congress' purpose by permitting all manufacturers to do what Chrysler did in this case—to hide behind the minimal federal standard—to use that very standard as an excuse for inaction—despite its actual knowledge that it was marketing a car which posed substantial risks to the lives of those who drove it.

II SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In this particular case, the propriety of the jury's award of punitive damages must be judged against the legal standard to which Chrysler agreed at the trial, and Chrysler has conceded by its silence that the evidence satisfied that standard. Moreover, the

finally become sensitive to the attitude which Chrysler's witnesses were projecting to the jury. Only as the trial progresses do Chrysler's witnesses develop less and less obsession with the satisfaction of the federal standard, and more and more concern for human life. By that time, the jury had the true picture.

district court's opinion is faithful to the harsher standard which Chrysler advocates for the first time on appeal, and Wolmer's evidence satisfied that standard. This is true whether or not Chrysler complied with the minimal federal regulations governing the design of this car, because in proper cases a manufacturer may be willful or wanton despite such compliance. The jury's exoneration of Chrysler on the strict-liability count should not forestall this conclusion, because the jury's punitive award must be judged against all of the evidence, taken in the light most favorable to that award, especially since Chrysler raised no claim of inconsistent verdicts at the trial. Nor did Chrysler raise any claim at the trial that an award of punitive damages is pre-empted by the applicable federal regulations, a claim which is not well-taken anyway.

III ARGUMENT

A. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT APPLY AN ERRONEOUS LEGAL STANDARD IN REVERSING THE ENTRY OF THE DIRECTED VERDICT.

Chrysler observes (brief at 12-17) that this Court has required, as a predicate for punitive damages, proof that the defendant's actions were not merely reckless, but so wanton or willful as to be equivalent to intentional misconduct—the kind of conduct which would sustain a manslaughter conviction. In contrast, Chrysler contends, the district court ignored this standard by upholding the punitive award solely because of the evidence that Chrysler was aware that the Wolmer car posed a risk of death, but continued to market it anyway. We have 3 responses.

First, this argument is not preserved for appellate review. At no time in either the trial court or the district court did Chrysler ever argue that something more than reckless or wanton conduct is required to support an award of punitive damages. To the contrary, at both the close of Wolmer's case (R. 975), and at the close of all the evidence (R. 1705), and in its post trial argument (R. 1788), Chrysler's sole contention was that the evidence did not prove recklessness—but only negligence or gross negligence. Indeed, Chrylser raised no objection (see R. 1715-29) to the trial court's jury instruction (R.

1758-59), taken directly from Florida Standard Jury Instruction (Civ.) 6.12, that punitive damages were appropriate if the jury found "that Chrysler acted with wantonness, willfullness or reckless indifference to the rights of others ..." (R. 1758). Nor did Chrysler raise any objection to the verdict form submitted to the jury, allowing an award of punitive damages if Chrysler acted "with wantonness, willfulness, or reckless indifference to the rights of others ..." (R. 1765-66). And in its brief in the district court (pp. 23-40), Chrysler argued only that the evidence was insufficient to satisfy the standard of reckless conduct about which the trial court had charged the jury.

In these many ways, Chrysler itself has defined the legal standard against which the jury's punitive award in this particular case must be measured. If Chrysler's present contention is that something "further aggravating" than recklessness is required (brief at 12 n.3), that contention is simply not preserved for appellate review, because it was not raised at trial. $\frac{37}{}$ Indeed, Chrysler is doubly estopped to argue here for a stricter standard because it affirmatively tried its case and argued its motions solely against a standard of recklessness. $\frac{38}{}$ And Chrysler is triply estopped to argue for a stricter standard because it raised no objection to the trial court's charge to the jury. That

^{37/} See generally Clark & Bostic v. State, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978); Lineberger v. Domino Canning Co., 68 So.2d 357, 359 (Fla. 1953); Atlantic Coast Line R. Co. v. Shouse, 91 So. 90, 95 (Fla. 1922); Marks v. Del Castillo, 386 So.2d 1259 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980), review denied, 397 So.2d 778 (Fla. 1981).

See generally Palm Beach Co. v. Palm Beach Estates, 110 Fla. 77, 148 So. 544 (1933); McClanahan v. Mayne, 103 Fla. 600, 138 So. 36, 37 (1931); Polk County National Bank v. Darrah, 52 Fla. 581, 42 So. 323 (1906); Behar v. Southeast Banks Trust Co., N.A., 374 So.2d 572, 575 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1979), cert. denied, 379 So.2d 202 (Fla. 1980); Holmes v. School Board of Orange County, 301 So.2d 145 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974), cert. denied, 312 So.2d 755 (Fla. 1975); Hevia v. Palm Terrace Fruit Co., 119 So.2d 795, 798 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1960). Cf. Wagner v. Nottingham Associates, 464 So.2d 166 (Fla. 3rd DCA), review denied, 475 So.2d 696 (Fla. 1985). See also François v. Wainwright, 741 F.2d 1275, 1282 (11th Cir. 1984) (Florida law). The federal courts have long enforced the rule that a party who tries his case on one theory will not be permitted to advance a new theory on appeal. See Wolf v. Frank, 477 F.2d 467 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 414 U.S. 975, 94 S. Ct. 287, 38 L. Ed.2d 218 (1973); Empire Life Ins. Co. of America v. Valdak Corp., 468 F.2d 330 (5th Cir. 1972); Pardo v. Wilson Line of Washington, Inc., 134 U.S. App. D.C. 249, 414 F.2d 1145 (1969); Roberson v. United States, 382 F.2d 714 (9th Cir. 1967); Poston v. Caraker, 378 F.2d 439 (5th Cir. 1967); Connecticut General Life Ins. Co. v. Breslin, 332 F.2d 928 (5th Cir. 1964).

omission not only precludes Chrysler from challenging the charge itself under Rule 1.470(b), Fla. R. Civ. P.; $\frac{39}{}$ it also constitutes Chrysler's concession of the *legal standard* against which the jury's punitive award must be measured. $\frac{40}{}$ As these cases hold, the appellant cannot, for the first time on appeal, invoke a legal standard which is inconsistent with a jury instruction to which the appellant had offered no objection.

To the contrary, the standard embraced in such a jury instruction becomes the law of the case for purposes of appeal: "[W]here no objections are made to instructions at trial, the substance of the instructions become part of the law of the case." Of course, in cases in which the appellant did raise an argument at the trial level in support of an unsuccessful motion for directed verdict, his point is preserved for review even if the appellant failed later to object to an inconsistent jury instruction—for the obvious reason that a second objection would have been fruitless. $\frac{42}{}$ In this case, however,

^{39/} See Administration of Estate of Lollie v. General Motors Corp., 407 So.2d 613 (Fla. 1st DCA), review denied, 413 So.2d 876 (Fla. 1982); Johnson v. Lasher Milling Co., 379 So.2d 1048 (Fla. 1st DCA), cert. denied, 388 So.2d 1114 (Fla. 1980); Barth v. Florida State Constructors Service, 363 So.2d 199 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1978), cert. denied, 368 So.2d 1362 (Fla. 1979).

^{40/} See Bould v. Touchette, 349 So.2d 1181, 1186 (Fla. 1977); Wagner v. Nottingham Associates, 464 So.2d 166, 169-70 (Fla. 3rd DCA), review denied, 475 So.2d 696 (Fla. 1985); Johnson v. Lasher Milling Co., 379 So.2d 1048, 1050 (Fla. 1st DCA), cert. denied, 388 So.2d 1114 (Fla. 1980); Henningsen v. Smith, 174 So.2d 85, 87 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1965); Karl v. David Ritter, Sportservice, Inc., 164 So.2d 23, 24 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1964) (per curiam).

^{41/} Firestone Tire and Rubber Co. v. Pearson, 769 F.2d 1471, 1477 (10th Cir. 1985). Accord, Music Research, Inc. v. Vanguard Recording Society, Inc., 547 F.2d 192, 194-95 (2nd Cir. 1976); Stengel v. Belcher, 522 F.2d 438, 444 (6th Cir. 1975), cert. dismissed, 429 U.S. 118, 97 S. Ct. 514, 50 L. Ed.2d 269 (1976); Moomey v. Massey Ferguson, Inc., 429 F.2d 1184, 1187 (10th Cir. 1970); Murphy v. Dyer, 409 F.2d 747, 748 (10th Cir. 1969); Green v. American Tobacco Co., 325 F.2d 673, 676 (5th Cir. 1963) (Florida law), cert. denied, 377 U.S. 943, 84 S. Ct. 1349, 1351, 12 L. Ed.2d 306 (1964). See United States v. Gates, 376 F.2d 65, 75 (10th Cir. 1967); Ellsworth Freight Lines, Inc. v. Coney, 376 F.2d 475, 478 (7th Cir. 1967).

^{42/} See Krock v. Electric Motor & Repair Co., 327 F.2d 213, 215-16 (1st Cir.), cert. denied, 377 U.S. 934, 84 S. Ct. 1338, 12 L. Ed.2d 298 (1964). Thus, it is settled that "a proper motion for a directed verdict and its denial will always preserve for review the question whether under the law truly applicable to the case there was an adequate evidentiary basis for the submission of the case to the jury." Coca Cola Bottling Co. of Black Hills v. Hubbard, 203 F.2d 859, 862 (8th Cir. 1953) (our emphasis). Accord, Aspen

Chrysler's motions for directed verdict were consistent with the jury instruction which Chrysler accepted; at no time in any context did Chrysler argue for a standard stricter than wantonness or recklessness. In that context, its accession to the jury instruction on that standard became the law of this case for all appellate purposes. $\frac{43}{}$

In light of the foregoing, Chrysler has waived any contention that either the trial court or the district court departed from the "appropriate" standard for assessing an award of punitive damages. The only relevant standard is the standard of recklessness, to which Chrysler agreed. And since Chrysler has raised no argument here that it's conduct was not at least reckless, no such claim is before this Court. 44/ For this reason, the jury's punitive award—at least as against this first argument—should be affirmed.

Second, Chrysler is wrong on the merits, because the district court's opinion is perfectly consistent with this Court's pronouncements on the issue of punitive damages. As the standard jury instruction provides, and as this Court noted in Carraway v. Revell, 116 So.2d 16, 20 n.12 (Fla. 1959) (citations omitted):

The character of negligence necessary to sustain an award of punitive damages must be of a "gross and flagrant character,

Highlands Skiing Corp. v. Aspen Skiing Co., 738 F.2d 1509, 1517-18 (10th Cir. 1984) (and cases cited), aff'd, ___ U.S. ___, 105 S. Ct. 2847, 86 L. Ed.2d 467 (1985); Hanson v. Ford Motor Co., 278 F.2d 586, 593 (8th Cir. 1960); House of Koscot Development Corp. v. American Line Cosmetics, Inc., 468 F.2d 64, 65 (5th Cir. 1972); Gorsalitz v. Olin Mathieson Chemical Corp., 429 F.2d 1033, 1040 n.5 (5th Cir. 1970), cert. denied, 407 U.S. 921, 92 S. Ct. 2463, 32 L. Ed.2d 807 (1972).

To put the same point in a different way, Chrysler's argument in such a context is necessarily that the trial court's charge to the jury was erroneous. See Wagner v. Nottingham Associates, 464 So.2d 166, 170 (Fla. 3rd DCA), review denied, 475 So.2d 696 (Fla. 1985). Indeed, the Corporate Amici brief makes that point explicit (pp. 7, 9, 28), by contending directly that the trial court's punitive charge to the jury was erroneous. Thus, even the Corporate Amici admit that the argument which Chrysler is advancing here in support of a directed verdict necessarily implies that the trial court's charge to the jury was erroneous. As we have noted, however, Chrysler agreed to that charge. While we are on the subject of the Corporate Amici brief, we should emphasize that an amicus has no standing to raise an argument which was not raised by the appellant below, and is not raised by the appellant on appeal. See Higbee v. Housing Authority of Jacksonville, 143 Fla. 560, 197 So. 479, 485 (1940); Acton v. Ft. Lauderdale Hospital, 418 So.2d 1099, 1101 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), approved, 440 So.2d 1282 (Fla. 1983).

 $[\]frac{44}{\text{V}}$ See Gifford v. Galaxie Homes of Tampa, Inc., 204 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1967); City of Miami v. Steckloff, 111 So.2d 446 (Fla. 1959).

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